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UNITED- STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
’ Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN GAS SPRING NAILER Investigation No. 337-TA-1082
PRODUCTS AND COMPONENTS
THEREOF

NOTICE OF COMMISSION DETERMINATION FINDING A VIOLATION OF
SECTION 337; ISSUANCE OF LIMITED EXCLUSION ORDER AND CEASE AND
DESIST ORDER; TERMINATION OF THE INVESTIGATION

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission.
ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission (“the
Commission”) has determined to find a violation of section 337. Specifically, the Commission
has determined to affirm in part, reverse in part, and modify in part both an initial determination
(“ID”) and a remand initial determination (“RID”) of the presiding administrative law judge
(“ALJ”). The Commission has issued a limited exclusion order (“LEO”) directed against
infringing gas spring nailer products and components thereof of respondent Hitachi Koki U.S.A.,
Ltd. (“Hitachi”) of Braselton, Georgia and a cease and desist order (“CDO”) directed against
Hitachi. The investigation is terminated. ' '

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Clint Gerdine, Esq., Office of the General
Counsel, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street, SW., Washington, D.C. 20436,
telephone (202) 708-2310. Copies of non-confidential documents filed in connection with this
investigation are or will be available for inspection during official business hours (8:45 a.m. to
5:15 p.m.) in the Office of the Secretary, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street,
'SW., Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone (202) 205-2000. General information concerning the
Commission may also be obtained by accessing its Internet server at https.//www.usitc.gov. The
public record for this investigation may be viewed on the Commission’s electronic docket
(EDIS) at https://edis.usitc.gov. Hearing-impaired persons are advised that information on this
matter can be obtained by contacting the Commission’s TDD terminal on (202) 205-1810.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: The Commission instituted this investigation on
November 20, 2017, based on a complaint filed on behalf of Kyocera Senco Brands Inc.
(“Kyocera”) of Cincinnati, Ohio. 82 Fed. Reg. 55118-19 (Nov. 20, 2017). The complaint, as
amended and supplemented, alleges violations of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as
amended, 19 U.S.C. 1337 (“section 337”), based upon the importation into the United States, the



sale for importation, and the sale within the United States after importation of certain gas spring
nailer products and components thereof by reason of infringement of certain claims of U.S.
Patent Nos. 8,011,547 (“the *547 patent”); 8,267,296 (“the 296 patent™); 8,27,297 (“the *297
patent”); 8,387,718 (“the *718 patent”); 8,286,722 (“the *722 patent™); and 8,602,282 (“the *282
patent”). The complaint further alleges the existence of a domestic industry. The
Commission’s notice of investigation named Hitachi as a respondent. The Office of Unfair
Import Investigations is not participating in the investigation. The *547 patent has been
terminated from the investigation and the notice of investigation was amended to add claim 30 of
the *297 patent to the investigation. Order No. 13 (June 4, 2018), unreviewed by Comm’n
Notice (June 22, 2018); Order No. 15 (June 19, 2018), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (July 9,
2018), 83 Fed. Reg. 32685-66 (July 15, 2018). Prior to the evidentiary hearing, the parties
stipulated that the >718 patent is the only remaining patent at issue because no violation could be
shown as to the "296, 297, *722, and *282 patents based on an evidentiary ruling limiting the
Kyocera’s expert’s testimony. See ID at 1-2. At the hearing, Kyocera asserted claims 1, 10,
and 16 (the “asserted claims™) of the *718 patent. Id at 2, 21.

On June 7, 2019, the ALJ issued a final ID finding no violation of section 337 as to the
>718 patent based on non-infringement and the failure of Kyocera to establish the existence of a
domestic industry (“DI”) that practices the *718 patent. Specifically, the ID finds that Kyocera
failed to show that the accused products or the domestic industry products practice the asserted |
claims. The ID also finds that Kyocera satisfied the economic prong of the DI requirement
under section 337(a)(3)(B). The ID also includes a recommended determination on remedy and
bonding (“RD”) during the period of Presidential review. The RD recommends an LEO |
directed to gas spring nailer products and components thereof that infringe the asserted claims of
the *718 patent, and recommends a CDO directed against Hitachi. The RD does not recommend
imposing a bond.

On August 14, 2019, the Commission determined to review the ID in part and remand in
part. See Comm’n Notice (Aug. 14, 2019). Specifically, the Commission determined to review
the ID’s finding that Kyocera did not establish: (1) either direct or induced infringement of the
asserted claims of the 718 patent, and (2) practice of the asserted claims by the DI products to
satisfy the DI requirement. The Commission also determined to review the ID’s finding that
Kyocera has satisfied the economic prong of the DI requirement. Id. The Commission _
remanded the issues of whether Kyocera has established, by a preponderance of the evidence,
that: (1) the remaining limitations (irrespective of the “system controller” limitation, i.e., “a
circuit configured to control operation based on received input signals™) of the asserted claims of
the 718 patent are met by the accused products; (2) the remaining limitations of the asserted
claims are practiced by the DI products (“the DI products™); and (3) Hitachi induced
infringement of the asserted claims. /d.



On October 28, 2019, the ALJ issued an RID finding no violation of section 337 as to the
>718 patent based on non-infringement and the failure of Kyocera to establish the existence of a
domestic industry that practices the *718 patent. Specifically, the RID finds that: (1) neither
the accused products nor the DI products satisfy the “displacement volume” limitation (i.e., “ (A)
a hollow cylinder comprising a cylindrical wall with'a movable piston therewith, said hollow
cylinder containing a displacement volume created by a stroke of said piston”) and the “initiating
a driving cycle” limitation (i.e., “initiating a driving cycle by pressing said exit end against a
workpiece and actuating said trigger, thereby causing said fastener driving mechanism to force
the driver member to move toward said exit end and drive a fastener into said workpiece”) of the
asserted claims; and (2) Kyocera failed to establish that Hitachi possesses the requisite specific
intent to induce infringement of the claims.

On November 12, 2019, Kyocera petitioned, and Hitachi contingently petitioned, for -
review of the RID. On November 20, 2019, Kyocera and H1tach1 each filed a response in
opposition to the other party’s petition for review.

On December 12, 2019, the Commission determined to review the RID in part.
Specifically, the Commission determined to review the RID’s finding that Kyocera did not
- establish: (1) direct infringement of the asserted claims with respect to the “displacement
volume” and “initiating a driving cycle” limitations; (2) practice of the asserted claims by the DI
products with respect to these limitations; and (3) induced infringement of the asserted claims.
84 Fed. Reg. 69391-92 (Dec. 18, 2019). The Commission determined not to review the
remainder of the RID. Id The Commission also requested the parties to respond to certain
questions concerning the issues under review with respect to the ID and RID, and requested
written submissions on the issues of remedy, the public interest, and bonding from the parties
and interested non-parties. Id.

On January 3 and 10, 2020, Kyocera and Hitachi each filed a brief and a reply brief,
respectively, on all issues for which the Commission requested written submissions. Having
reviewed the record in this investigation, including the final ID, the RID, and the parties’ written
submissions, the Commission has determined to find a violation of section 337. Specifically,
the Commission has determined that: (1) the accused and DI products meet the “system
controller,” “displacement volume,” and “initiating a driving cycle” limitations of the asserted
claims 1, 10, and 16 of the *718 patent, and therefore the accused products infringe these claims;
(2) the DI products practice these claims and therefore Kyocera has satisfied the technical prong
of the DI requirement; (3) Hitachi has induced infringement of the asserted claims; and (4)
Kyocera has satisfied the economic prong of the DI requirement under section 337(a)(3)(C).

- The Commission reverses the ID’s and RID’s findings to the contrary and takes no position on
the ID’s finding that Kyocera has satisfied the economic prong of the DI requirement under
section 337(a)(3)(B). Accordingly, the Commission finds a violation based on Hitachi’s
induced infringement of the asserted claims. The Commission has issued an opinion explaining
the basis for the Commission’s determination.



Having found a violation of section 337 as to the 718 patent, the Commission has
determined that the appropriate form of relief is an LEO prohibiting the entry of unlicensed gas
spring nailer products and components thereof that infringe one or more of claims 1, 10, and 16
of the *718 patent, and that are manufactured abroad by or on behalf of, or imported by or on
behalf of Hitachi, or any of its affiliated companies, parents, subsidiaries, or other related
business entities, or their successors or assigns. Appropriate relief also includes a CDO
prohibiting Hitachi from conducting any of the following activities in the United States:
importing, selling, marketing, advertising, distributing, offering for sale, transferring (except for
exportation), and soliciting U.S. agents or distributors for gas spring nailer products and
components thereof that infringe one or more of claims 1, 10, and 16 of the 718 patent.

The Commission has further determined that the public interest factors enumerated in
sections 337(d)(1) and 337(f)(1) (19 U.S.C. 1337(d)(1) and 1337(f)(1)) do not warrant denying
relief. Finally, the Commission has determined that no bond is required during the period of -
Presidential review (19 U.S.C. 1337(j)). The Commission’s order was delivered to the President
and to the United States Trade Representative on the day of its issuance.

The Commission has terminated this investigation. The authority for the Commission’s
determination is contained in section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. 1337,
and in part 210 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, 19 CFR part 210.

Chaa>

Lisa R. Barton
Secretary to the Comm1ssmn

By order of the Commission.

Issued: March 5, 2020
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION '
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN GAS SPRING NAILER PRODUCTS Investigation No. 337-TA-1082
AND COMPONENTS THEREOF ‘

LIMITED EXCLUSION ORDER

The United States International Trade Commission (“Commission”) has determined that
there is a violation of Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. § 1337), in the
unlawful importation, sale for importation, and sale after importation by respondent Hitachi Koki
'U.S.A., Ltd., now known as Koki Hoidings America.Ltd., (“Respondent”) of certain gas spring
nailer products and components. thereof that infringe one or more of claims 1, 10, and 16 of U.S.
Patent No. 8,387,718. |

Having reviewed the record of this investigation, including the written submissions of the
parties, the Commission has made its determination on the issues of remedy, the public interest,
and bonding. The Commission has determined that the appropriate form of relief is a limited
exclusion order prohibiting the unlicensed entry of certain gaé spring nailer products and
components thereof that are manufactured abroad by or on behalf of, or imported by or on behalf
of, Respondent or any of its affiliated companies, parents, subsidiaries, licensees, or other related
business entities, or their successors or assigns.

The Commission has also determined that the public interest factors enumerated in 19
US.C. § 1337(d)(1) do not preclude the issuance of the limited exclusion order, and that there is
no bond during the period of Presidential review. |

Accordingly, the Commission hereby ORDERS that:

1. Gas spring nailer products and components thereof that infringe one or more of



claims 1, 10, and 16 of U.S. Patent No. 8,3'87,7‘18 (“the *718 Patent”) and that are
inanufactured abroad by or on behalf of, or imported by or on behalf of, Respbndent
or any of its affiliated companies, parents, subsidiaries, licensees, or other related
busiﬁess entitiés, or their successérs or assigns (“covered articles™), are excluded
from entry for consumption into the United States, éntry for consumption from a
foreign trade zone, or withdrawal from a warehouse for consﬁmption, for the
remaining term of the ‘718 patent, except under license of the patent owner or as

provided by law.
Notwithstanding paragraph 1 of this Order, covered articles are entitled to entry into

the United States for consumption, entry for consumption from a foreign-trade 'zone,
or withdrawal from a warehouse for consumption without bond, pursuant to subsection
(j) of Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. § 1337(j)) and
the Presidential Memorandum for the United States Trade Representative of July
21, 2005 (70 Fed. Reg. 43,251), from the day after this Order is received by the
United States Trade Representative until such time as the United States Trade
Representafive notifies the Commission that this Order is approved or disapproved
but, in any event, not later than sixty (60) days after the date of receipt of this Order.
At the discretion of CBP and pursuant to the procedures it establishes, persons
seeking to import gas spring nailgr products and components thereof that are
potentially subject to this Order may be required to certify that they are familiar
with the terms of this Order, that they have made appropriate inquiry, and thereupon
state that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the products being imported are |
not excluded from entry under paragraphs 1-2 of this Order. At its discretion, CBP
may require persons who have provided the certification described in this paragraph

to furnish such records or analyses as are necessary to substantiate the certification.



4. In accordance with 19 U.S..C. § 1337(1), the provisions of this Order shall not apply
to gas spring nailer products and components thereof that are imported by and for
the use of the United States, or. impérted fo;, and to be used for, the United States
with the authorization or consent of the Government.

5. The Commission may modify this Order in accordance with the procedures
described in Section 210.76 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and l;rocedure
(19CF.R.§ 210.76);

6. The Secretary shall servé copies of this Order upon each party of record in this
investigation and up;)n CBP.

7. Notice of this Order shall be published in the Federal Registgr.

By order of the Commission.

ChaE>

Lisa R. Barton
: Secretary to the Commission
Issued: March 5, 2020
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C.
In the Matter of
CERTAIN GAS SPRING NAILER PRODUCTS Investigation No. 337-TA-1082
AND COMPONENTS THEREOF
CEASE AND DESIST ORDER

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT Respondent Hitachi Koki U.S.A., Ltd.,
now known as Koki Holdings America Ltd. (“Respondent”), cease and desist from conducting any
of the following activities in the United States: importing, selling, offering for sale, marketing,
advertising, distributing, transferring (except» for exportation), and soliciting U.S. agents or
distributors for, and aiding and abetting other entities in the importation, sale for importation, sale
after importation, transfer (except for exportation), or disﬁ‘ibution of gas spring nailer products and
components thereof that infringe one or more of claims 1, 10, and 16 of U.S. Patent No. 8,387,718,
in violation of Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. § 1337).

I
Definitions

As used in this Order:

(A) “Commission” shall mean the United States International Trade Commission.

(B) “Complainant” shall mean Kyocera Senco Brands, Inc.

(C) “Respondent” shall mean Hitachi Koki U.S.A., Ltd., now known as Koki Holdings
America Ltd., whose address is represented to be 1111 Broadway Avenue, Braselton,

Georgia 38517.



(D) “Person” shall mean an individual, or any non-governmental partnership, firm,

association, corporation, or other legal or business entity other than Respondent or its
majority owned or controlled éubsidiaries, successors, or assigns.

(E) “United States” shall mean the ﬁfty States, the District of Colu;rlbiaz and Puerto Rico.

(F) The terms “import” and “importation” refer to importation for entry for consumption
under the Customs laws of the United States.

(G) The term “covered products” shall mean gas spring nailer products and comp.onents
thereof covered by one or more of claims 1, 10, and 16 of the 718 patent. Covered
products shall not include articles for which a provision of law or license avoids
liability for infringement.

II.
Applicability

The provisions of this Cease and Desist Order shall apply to Respondent and to any of its
principals, stockholders, officers, directors, employees, égents, distributors, controlled (whether
by stock ownership or otherwise) and majority-owned business entities, successors, and assigns,
and to each of them insofar as they are engaging in conduct prohibited by Section III, infra, for,
with, or otherwise on behalf of, Respondent.

HI.
Conduct Prohibited

The following conduct of Respondent in the United States is prohibited by this Order.
For the remaining term of U.S. Patent No. 8,387,718, Respondent shall not:
(A) import or sell for importation into the United States cévered products;
(B) market, distribute, sell, offer to sell, or otherwise transfer (except for exportation), in
the United States imported covered products;

(C) advertise imported covered products;



(D) solicit U.S. agents or distributors for imported covered products; or
(E) aid or abet other entities in the importation, sale for importation, sale after importation,

transfer, or distribution of covered products.

IV.
- Conduct Permitted

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Order, specific conduct otherwise prohibited.
by the terms of this Order shall be permitted if:
(A) in a written instrument, the OWner of the *718 patent licenses of authorizes such
specific conduct; or |
(B) such specific conduct is related to the importation or sale of covered products by or for
the United States.

V.
Reporting

For purposes of this requirement, the reporting periods shall commence on January 1 of
each year and shall end on the subsequent December 31. The first report requiréd under this
section shall cover the period from the date of issuance of this order through December 31, 2020.
This reporting requirement shall continue in force until such time as Respondent has truthfully
reported, in two consecutive timely filed reports, that it has no iﬁventory (whether held in
warehouses or at customer sites) of covered products in the United Statés.

Within thirty (30) days of the last day of the reporting period, Respondent shall report to
the Commission: (a) the quantity in units and the value in’dollars of covered products that it has
imported and/or sold in the United States after importation during the reporting period, and (b)
the quantity in units and value in dollars of reported covered products that remain in inventory in
the United States at the end of the reporting period.

When filing written submissions, Respondent must file the original document

3



electronically on or before the deadlines stated above and submit eight (8;) true paper copies tQ
the Office of the Secretary by noon the next day pursuant to Section 210.4(f) of the
Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. § 210.4(f)). Submissions should
refer to the investigation number (“Inv. No. 337-TA-1082") in a prominent place on the cover
pages and/or the ﬁrst page. (See Handbook for Electronic Filing Procedures,
https://www.usitc.gov/documents/handbook_on_filing_procedures.pdf). Persons 'with
questions regarding filing should contact the Office of the Secretary (202-205-2000). If
Respondent desires to submit a doAcument to the Commission in confidence, it must file the
original and a public version of the oﬁginal with the Office of the Secretary and must serve a
copy of the confidential version on Complainant’s counsel.!

Any failure to make the required report or the filing of any false or inaccurate report shall
constitute a violation of this Order, and.the submission of a false or inaccurate report may be
referred to the U.S. Department of Justice as a possible criminal violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001.

VL v
Recordkeeping and Inspection

(A) For the purpose of securing compliance with this Ordér, Respondent shall retain any
and all records relating to the sale, offer for sale, marketing, or distribution in the United
States of co‘vered products, rnade-and received in the usual and ordin@ course of
bﬁsiness, whether in detail or in summary form, for a period of three (3) years from the
close of the fiscal year to Which they bertain.

(B) For the purposes of cietermining or securing compliance with this Order and for no
other purpose, subject to any privilege recognized by the- federal courts of the United

States, and upon reasonable written notice by the' Commission or its staff, duly

' Complainant must file a letter with the Secretary identifying the attorney to receive reports
associated with this Order. The designated attorney must be on the protective order entered in the

investigation.
4



authorized representatives of the Commission shall be perrrﬁtted éccess and the
right to inspect and copy, in Respondént’s principals offices during office hours,
and in the presence of counsel or other representatives if Respondent so chooses, all
books, ledgers, accounts, correspondence, memoranda, and other records and
documents, in detail and in summary form, that must be retained under subparagraph
VI(A) of this Order. |

_ VII.
Service of Cease and Desist Order

Respbndent is ordered and direct to:

(A) Serve, within fifteen days after the effective date of this Order, a copy of this Order
upon each of its respective officers, directors, managihg agents, agehfs, and employees
who have any responsibility for the importation, marketing, distribution, sale, lease, or
rent of imported covered products in the United States;

(B) serve, within fifteen days after the succession of any persons referred to in

subparagraph VII(A) of this Order, a copy of the Order upon each successor; and

(C) maintain such records as will show the name, title, and address of each person upon
whom the Order has been served, as described in subparagraphs VII(A) and VII(B) of
this Order, together with the date on which service was made. | ' \

The obligations set forth in subparagraphs VII(B) and VII(C) shall remain in effect until

the ’718 patent expires.

VIIL
Confidentiality

Any request for confidential treatment of information obtained by the Commission
pursuant to Section V or VI of this Order should be made in accordance with Section 201.6 ofthe
Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. § 201.6). For all repofts for which

confidential treatment is sought, Respondent must provide a public version of such report with
5



confidential information redacted. .

IX. _
Enforcement

Violation of this Order may result in any of the actions specified in Section 210.75 of the
Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. § 210.75), including an action for civil
penalties under Section 337(f) of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19 U.S.C. § 1337(f)), as well as any other
action that the Commission devems appropriate. In determining whether Respondenf isin yiolation
of this order, the Commission may infer facts adverse to Respondent if it fails to provide adequate

or timely information.

X.
Modification

The Commission may amend this order on its own motion or in accordance with the
procedure described in Section 210.76 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (19
C.F.R. § 210.76).

XI.
Bonding

The conduct prohibited by Section III of this Order may be continued during the sixfy-day
period in which this Order is under review by the United States Trade Representative, as delegated
by the President (70 Fed. Reg. 43,251 (Jul. 21, 2005)), with no bond required. This bond provision
does not app]y to conduct that is otherwise permitted by section IV of this Order. Covered products
imported on or after the date of issuance qf ‘this Order are entitled to entry without bond as set forth

in the exclusion order issued by the Commission, and are not subject to this bond provision.



By order of the Commission.

7>
Lisa R. Barton

Secretary to the Commission
Issued: March 5, 2020
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PUBLIC VERSION

UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN GAS SPRING NAILER Investigation No. 337-TA-1082
PRODUCTS AND COMPONENTS
THEREOQOF

COMMISSION OPINION

On June 7 and October 28, 2019, the presiding administrative law judge (“ALJ”) issued a
final initial determination (“ID”) and a remand ID (“RID”), respectively, both of which find no
violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended 19 U.S.C. § 1337 (“section 337”).
The ID and RID find that the sole respondent’s accused products do not directly infringe claims
1, 10, and 16 (“the asserted claims™) of U.S. Patent No. 8,387,718 (“the 718 patent”); that the
respondent does not induce infringement of the asserted claims; and that the complainant’s
domestic industry (“DI”) products do not practice the asserted claims. The Commission
determined to review both the ID and RID in part. On review, the Commission finds a violation
of section 337 because the accused products directly infringe the asserted claims, the respondent
induces infringement of the asserted claims, the complainant’s DI products practice the asserted
claims, and the complainant has satistied the economic prong of the domestic industry
requirement. The Commission has determined to issue a limited exclusion order (“LEO”)
directed to infringing gas spring nailer products and components thereof, and a cease and desist
order (“CDQO”) directed to the respondent. This Opinion sets forth the Commission’s reasoning

in support of its violation and remedy determinations.



PUBLIC VERSION

I. BACKGROUND
A. Procedural History

The Commission instituted this investigation on November 20, 2017, based on a
complaint filed on behalf of Kyocera Senco Brands Inc.! (“Kyocera”) of Cincinnati, Ohio. 82
Fed. Reg. 55118-19 (Nov. 20, 2017). The complaint, as amended and supplemented, alleges
violations of section 337, based upon the importation into the United States, the sale for
importation, and the sale within the United States after importation of certain gas spring nailer
products and components thereof by reason of infringement of certain claims of the *718 patent
and U.S. Patent Nos. 8,011,547 (“the *547 patent”); 8,267,296 (“the 296 patent”); 8,27,297 (“the
’297 patent”); 8,286,722 (“the >722 patent”); and 8,602,282 (“the *282 patent”).? The patents
share largely identical specifications. The complaint further alleges the existence of a domestic
industry. The Commission’s notice of investigation names as a respondent Hitachi Koki
U.S.A., Ltd.? (“Hitachi”) of Braselton, Georgia. The Office of Unfair Import Investigations is
not participating in the investigation.

On May 3, 2018, the ALJ issued a Markman Order construing the relevant terms of the
asserted patents. See Order No. 9 (May 3, 2018) (the “Markman Order”). Prior to the

evidentiary hearing, the parties stipulated that the 718 patent is the only patent at issue since no

! During the investigation, Kyocera Senco Brands Inc. changed its name to Kyocera Senco
Industrial Tools, Inc. See ID at 3 n.3 (citing Kyocera’s Initial Post-Hearing Br. at 4 n.3).

2 The Commission terminated the 547 patent from the investigation in June 2018. See Order
No. 13 (June 4, 2018), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (June 22, 2018).

3 During the investigation, Hitachi Koki U.S.A., Ltd. changed its name to Koki Holdings
America Ltd. See Hitachi’s Initial Post-Hearing Br. at 3.
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violation could be shown as to the °296, °297, >722, and ’282 patents.*

On June 7, 2019, the ALJ issued the final ID finding no violation of section 337 as to the
718 patent. The ID finds that the accused products do not directly infringe or induce
infringement of claims 1, 10, and 16 of this patent, and that Kyocera has not satisfied the
technical prong of the DI requirement with respect to this patent. Specifically, the ID finds that
neither the accused products nor the DI products meet the “system controller” limitation of the
asserted claims. The ID also finds that Kyocera has satisfied the economic prong of the
domestic industry requirement. The ID also includes a recommended determination (“RD”) on
remedy and bonding. The RD recommends that, to the extent that the Commission finds a
violation of section 337, the Commission issue an LEO directed to gas spring nailer products and
components thereof that infringe the asserted claims of the *718 patent and a CDO directed
against Hitachi. The RD recommends the imposition of no bond during the period of
Presidential review.

On June 24, 2019, Kyocera petitioned and Hitachi contingently petitioned for review of
the final ID.> On July 2, 2019, Kyocera and Hitachi each filed a response in opposition to the

other party’s petition for review.®

* In Order No. 28, the ALJ found that Kyocera’s technical expert, Dr. Pratt, did not qualify as a
person of ordinary skill in the art (“POSA™). Order No. 28 at 3. The ALJ then precluded Dr.
Pratt from offering testimony concerning infringement under the doctrine of equivalents. /d. at
6. Inresponse to Order No. 28, the parties stated that “as to the asserted claims of

[the *296, °297, *722, and ’282 patents], the parties agree that the hearing should not move
forward with respect to the claims in these patents.” See Joint Stipulation Regarding Order No.
28 (Oct. 26, 2018).

> See Complainant’s Petition for Review of the Initial Determination of No Violation
(“Kyocera’s Pet.”); Respondent’s Contingent Petition for Commission Review (“Hitachi’s Pet.”).

¢ See Respondents’ Response to Complainant’s Petition for Commission Review (“Hitachi’s
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On August 14, 2019, the Commission determined to review the ID’s findings concerning
the “system controller” limitation and remanded in part for the ALJ to make further findings.
See Comm’n Notice (Aug. 14, 2019). Specifically, the Commission determined to review the
ID’s finding that Kyocera did not establish: (1) either direct or induced infringement of the
asserted claims of the *718 patent and (2) that the DI products practice the asserted claims. The
Commission also determined to review the ID’s finding that Kyocera has satisfied the economic
prong of the DI requirement. The Commission remanded the issues of whether Kyocera has
established, by a preponderance of the evidence, that: (1) the remaining limitations (irrespective
of the “system controller” limitation) of the asserted claims of the *718 patent are met by the
accused products; (2) the remaining limitations of the asserted claims are practiced by the DI

products; and (3) Hitachi induced infringement of the asserted claims. Id.

On October 28, 2019, the ALJ issued the RID finding no violation of section 337 as to
the 718 patent based on non-infringement and the failure of Kyocera to establish the existence
of a domestic industry that practices the *718 patent. Specifically, the RID finds that:

(1) neither the accused products nor the DI products satisfy the “displacement volume” and
“Initiating a driving cycle” limitations of the asserted claims, and (2) Kyocera failed to establish

that Hitachi possesses the requisite specific intent to induce infringement.

On November 12, 2019, Kyocera petitioned, and Hitachi contingently petitioned, for

review of the RID.” On November 20, 2019, Kyocera and Hitachi each filed a response in

Resp.”); Complainant’s Response to Respondent’s Contingent Petition for Commission Review.

7 See Complainant’s Petition for Review of the Remand Initial Determination of Section 337
(“Kyocera’s Pet. (RID)”); Respondent’s Contingent Petition for Commission Review of Remand
Initial Determination.
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opposition to the other party’s petition for review.?

On December 12, 2019, the Commission determined to review the RID in part and
requested written submissions from the parties on certain issues. 84 Fed. Reg. 69391-92 (Dec.
18, 2019). Specifically, the Commission determined to review the RID’s finding that Kyocera
did not establish: (1) direct infringement of the asserted claims with respect to the
“displacement volume” and “initiating a driving cycle” limitations; (2) practice of the asserted
claims by its DI products with respect to these limitations; and (3) induced infringement of the
asserted claims. Id. The Commission also requested written submissions on the issues of
remedy, the public interest, and bonding. Id. The Commission determined not to review the
remainder of the RID. Id. On January 3 and 10, 2020, Kyocera and Hitachi each filed a brief
and a reply brief, respectively, on all issues for which the Commission requested written
submissions.’

Having reviewed the record in this investigation, including the ID, the RID, and the
parties’ briefing, on review the Commission has determined, as described infra, to: (1) reverse
the final ID’s and RID’s findings that neither the accused products nor the DI products meet the
“system controller,” “displacement volume,” and “initiating a driving cycle” limitations of the

asserted claims of the *718 patent, and accordingly, find that the accused products infringe

8 See Respondents’ Response to Complainant’s Petition for Commission Review of the Remand
Initial Determination of Section 337 (“Hitachi’s Resp. (RID)”); Complainant’s Response to
Respondent’s Contingent Petition for Commission Review.

? See Complainant’s Response to Commission Request for Additional Briefing (Jan. 3, 2020)
(“Kyocera’s Sub.”); Complainant’s Brief to the Commission on Remedy, Bond, and the Public
Interest (Jan. 3, 2020) (“Kyocera’s Sub. on Remedy”); Respondent’s Response to Notice of
Commission Determination to Review in Part a Remand Initial Determination (Jan. 3, 2020)
(“Hitachi’s Sub.”); Complainant’s Response to Respondent’s Brief to the Commission (Jan. 10,
2020) (“Kyocera’s Reply”); Respondent’s Reply to Complainant’s Response to Notice of
Commission Determination to Review in Part a Remand Initial Determination (Jan. 10, 2020).
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claims 1, 10, and 16 of the *718 patent; (2) reverse the RID’s finding that Hitachi does not induce
infringement of the asserted claims; and (3) affirm, with modification as discussed infra, the ID’s
finding that Kyocera has satisfied the economic prong of the domestic industry requirement.
Also, for the reasons set forth below, the Commission determines that the appropriate relief is an
LEO directed to Hitachi’s infringing products and a CDO directed to Hitachi.

B. Overview of the Technology and the °718 Patent

The technology in this investigation relates to cordless (i.e., portable) gas spring nailers.
Kyocera’s Initial Post-Hearing Br. at 4. Gas spring nailers are used to drive fasteners (e.g.,
staples, nails, etc.) into workpieces such as wood, at a much higher rate than can be done with a
simple hammer by providing an enclosed pressurized gas source that can be reused for multiple
fastener driving actuations. /Id. (citing CX-110C (Pratt) at QQ. 12, 23).

The 718 patent (JX-4), entitled “Method for Controlling a Fastener Driving Tool Using a
Gas Spring,” was issued by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office on March 5, 2013. Kyocera
asserts independent claims 1, 10, and 16 against Hitachi in this investigation. Kyocera’s Initial
Post-Hearing Br. at 5, 14; see also ID at 21.

The 718 patent is directed to portable linear fastener driving tools (or nailers) that can
drive staples, nails, or other linearly driven fasteners into a workpiece. JX-4 at 1:17-19.
Specifically, the disclosed invention is directed to driving tools that use a “gas spring” concept,
which utilize pressurized air to quickly and powerfully force a piston through a driving stroke
movement, while a driver also drives a fastener into a workpiece. Id. at 1:19-23; see also
Kyocera’s Initial Post-Hearing Br. at 5; JX-4 at Abstract. Prior art gas spring nailers suffer from
various issues, including too many moving parts, requiring regular replenishment of pressurized

gas during normal operation of the device, and requiring combustion of gas. Id. at 1:57-62; see
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also Kyocera’s Initial Post-Hearing Br. at 5.
Asserted claim 1 of the *718 patent, representative of all asserted claims, reads:
1. A method for controlling a fastener driving tool, said method comprising:

(a) providing a fastener driving tool that includes: (i) a housing; (ii) a system controller;
(i11) a safety contact element; (1v) a user-actuated trigger; (v) a fastener; (vi) a prime
mover that moves a lifter member which moves a driver member away from an exit
end of the mechanism; and (vii) a fastener driving mechanism that moves said driving
member toward said exit end of the mechanism, said fastener driving mechanism
including:

(A)a hollow cylinder comprising a cylindrical wall with a movable piston
therewithin, said hollow cylinder containing a displacement volume created
by a stroke of said piston, and

(B) a main storage chamber that is in fluidic communication with said
displacement volume of the cylinder, wherein said main storage chamber and

said displacement volume are initially charged with a pressurized gas;

(b) selecting, by a user, an operating mode of said driving cycle to be one of: a “bottom
firing mode,” and a “restrictive firing mode;” wherein

(1) if said restrictive firing mode is selected, said tool will operate if said safety
contact element has been actuated before said trigger actuator has been
operated; and

(i1) if said bottom firing mode is selected, said tool will operate if both:

(A)said trigger actuator has been operated, and
(B) said safety contact element has been actuated, in either sequence;

(c) initiating a driving cycle by pressing said exit end against a workpiece and actuating
said trigger, thereby causing said fastener driving mechanism to force the driver

member to move toward said exit end and drive a fastener into said workpiece; and

(d) actuating said prime mover, thereby moving said lifter member and causing said
driver member to move away from said exit end toward a ready position.

JX-4 at 37:52-38:25 (emphasis added to portions relevant to petitioned issues).
Fig. 1 (shown below) of the *718 patent illustrates a fastener driving tool 10 which is the

first embodiment of the invention. [Id. at 7:27-32.
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JX-4 at FIG. 1.

The first embodiment fastener driving tool 10 is mainly designed to linearly drive
fasteners such as nails and staples. Id. at 7:29-30. The tool 10 includes a handle portion
12, a fastener driving portion 14, a fastener magazine portion 16, and a fastener exit

portion 18. Id. at 7:30-32. The driving tool 10 also includes a motor 40 which acts as a
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prime mover for the tool, and which has an output that drives a gearbox 42. The handle
portion 12 includes a printed circuit board 50 that contains a controller. Id. at 8:1-3, 10-
12. A trigger switch 52 is activated by a trigger actuator 54. As shown in FIG. 1
(above), the handle portion 12 is designed for gripping by a human hand, and the trigger
actuator 54 is designed for linear actuation by a person’s finger while gripping the handle
portion 12. Trigger switch 52 provides an input to the control system 50. Id. at 8:12-20
(emphasis added). There are also other input devices for the controller, however those
input devices are not seen in FIG. 1. Id.

Further, as shown above in FIG. 1, “[t]he area of the first embodiment [of the
fastener driving] tool 10 in which a fastener is released is indicated approximately by the
reference numeral 30, which is the ‘bottom’ of the fastener exit portion of tool 10.” Id.
at 7:44-47. Before the tool is actuated, a safety contact element 32 extends beyond the
bottom 30 of the fastener exit, and this extension of the safety contact element is depicted
at 34, which is the bottom or “front” portion of the safety contact element. Id. at 7:47-
51.

As shown in Fig. 2 below, the fastener driver portion 14 includes a working
cylinder 71 that has a cylinder wall 70, and within the wall 70 is a piston 80

interconnected to a driver 90. Id. at 8:29-33, 44-49.



PUBLIC VERSION

Fig. 2

JX-4 at FIG. 2.
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Surrounding the cylinder wall is a main storage chamber 74. Id. at 8:37-41. In
operation, the piston 80 moves up and down in the chamber 74 to deliver a driving stroke,
via the driver 90, to drive a fastener into a workpiece, i.e., a solid object. Id. at 8:44-49,
9:57-10:3. Each driving, i.e., downward, stroke of the piston 80 creates a displacement
volume 76 in the chamber 74, where this displacement volume is at maximum when the
piston 80 is in its bottom-most travel position, i.e., “the driven position,” as shown in Fig.

3 below.

11
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JX-4 at FIG. 3.
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The *718 specification discloses various types of firing (or driving) modes for using the
tool 10 to drive fasteners into a workpiece. Id. at 14:43-61. For one driving mode, i.e., a
“trigger fire” mode, the user of the tool first presses the tool nose 34 against a work surface, and
then depresses the trigger actuator 54 (shown in Fig. 1 above), which causes the drive stroke to
occur. Id. Alternatively, for another driving mode, i.e., a “bottom fire”” mode, the trigger 54 is
actuated first, and then user of the tool presses the tool nose 34 against a work surface, and it is
the work surface contact that initiates the drive stroke. /Id.

C. Accused Products

Kyocera accuses Hitachi’s five gas spring nailers that it imports and sells within the
United States: the NT1850DE, NT1865DM, NT1865DMA, NR1890DC, and NR1890DR
nailers (collectively, the “accused products” — see FIGs. A and B below for the representative

accused product). Kyocera’s Initial Post-Hearing Br. at 6; see also ID at 10.

13
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FIG. A
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FIG. B
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~CDX-0001C.0054
CDX-1C.0054; see also JX-19C; JX-21C; JX-22C; JX-23C; JPX-6; JPX-7.

The Instruction and Safety Manual for the accused products discloses two modes of
operation for the Hitachi nailer, Full Sequential Actuation Mechanism and Contact Actuation
Mechanism, which can be user-selected via a switch. See JX-19C.0004, 0013, 0025-26. The
Full Sequential Mechanism requires a specific sequence to be followed, e.g., pressing of push
lever against wood followed by pulling the trigger, to activate the nailer for driving fasteners.
Id. The Contact Actuation Mechanism requires specific contact of the push lever with the wood
(or workpiece) to activate the nailer for driving fasteners. Id. The Instruction and Safety
Manual specifically discloses:

(1) Full Sequential Actuation Mechanism — first, press the push lever against

the wood; next, pull the trigger to drive the fastener. Follow the same
sequence to continue driving fasteners;

15
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(2) Contact Actuation Mechanism — first, press the push lever against the wood;
next pull the trigger to driver the fastener. Or, first pull the trigger; next,
press the push lever against the wood to drive the fastener. If the trigger is
held back, a fastener will be driven each time the push lever is pressed against
the wood.

See JX-19C.0004. The exit end of the mechanism, i.e., the end of the safety contact
element, is pressed against the workpiece to allow a driving cycle to begin. 1d.; see also
CX-110C at Q. 203.

In connection with these two operating modes, the Service Manual for the

accused products provides a Connecting Diagram (shown below in Fig. C) which

illustrates the connections between multiple sensors and a main printed circuit board

(“PCB”) to carry out the two modes of operation. See JX-23C.0027.

16
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FIG. C

[l

JX-23.0027.
The Service Manual also contains a parts list that includes [[
1]. See JX-23C.0029-31 (Item Nos. 58, 63, and 75). The Service
Manual further includes a photograph of the [[ ]] (and an
accompanying connecting diagram) as shown below in FIGs. D and E. See JX-

23C.0021; CX-13; CDX-1C.0043.
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FIG.D
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FIG. E

1l

CDX-1C.0043; see also JX-19C; JX-21C; JX-22C; JX-23C; JPX-6; JPX-7.

D. Domestic Industry Products

Kyocera presents four of its cordless gas spring nailers as its DI products: the FUSION
F-18, F-16S, F-16A, and F-15 finish nailers (collectively, the “Finishing Nailers” — see FIGs. F,
G, and H below for a representative DI product of these models from its Operating Instructions
Manual). Kyocera’s Initial Post-Hearing Br. at 6 (citing CX-110C at Q. 241; CX-112C (Klein)

at Q. 19); see also ID at 15.

19
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FIG. F (DI Product Fusion Cordless Finish Nailer)
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FIG. G (Image of DI Product Fusion Nailer Showing Multiple Claimed Elements)
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CDX-2C.0047; see also CX-14C; CX-15C; CX-23C; CX-28C.
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FIG. H (Image of DI Product Fusion Nailer Showing Claimed Safety Contact Element)
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CDX-2C.0044; see also CX-14C; CX-15C; CX-23C; CX-28C.

Similar to the accused products, the Operating Instructions Manual for the DI products
discloses two modes of operation, Sequential Actuation and Contact Actuation, which are
selected via a switch (now shown). See CX-14C.00016-17. The Sequential Actuation mode
requires a specific sequence to be followed, e.g., pressing the push lever against wood followed
by pulling the trigger, to activate the nailer for driving fasteners. Id. The Contact Actuation
mode requires specific contact of the push lever with the wood (or workpiece) to activate the
nailer for driving fasteners. Id. The Operating Instructions Manual specifically discloses:

In the “contact-actuation” mode, nails can be driven in two ways:

(1) The first way:

(a) Press the TTT side of the selector switch. This will be indicated by the
flashing green LED on the selector switch.

(b) Press the workpiece contact (safety) element against the work surface.

(c) Pull the trigger and the fastener is driven.

(2) The second way:

(a) Press TTT side of the selector switch for 0.5 seconds. This will be
indicated by the flashing green LED on the selector switch.
(b) Pull trigger.

(c) Depress workpiece contact element against work surface and drive a
fastener.

22
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In the “sequential-activation” mode, nails can only be driven one way:
(1) Press the T side of the selector switch. This will be indicated by the solid
green LED on the selector switch.
(2) Position workpiece contact (safety) element against work surface and depress
the safety.
(3) Pull trigger to turn on the motor and drive a fastener.
Id. The exit end of the mechanism, i.e., the end of the safety contact element, is pressed
against the workpiece to allow a driving cycle to begin. /d.; see also CX-110C at Q.
391.
In connection with these two operating modes, Kyocera provides a Tool Function

Flow Chart (shown below as FIGs. 1, J) that discloses the operation of the two modes as

followed by the logic of the Kyocera nailer. See CX-21C.

23
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FIG. I (PartI of Tool Function Flow Chart for DI Product Fusion Nailer)

CX-21C; see also CX-14C.
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FIG. J (Part II of Tool Function Flow Chart for DI Product Fusion Nailer)

1l

CX-21C; see also CX-14C.
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Photographs of the PCB interconnected to multiple sensors for performing the two modes
of operation is shown below in FIGs. J and K. See CDX-2C.0038, 0045.

FIG. J (Image of DI Product Fusion Nailer Showing Claimed System Controller)
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CDX-2C.0038; see also CX-14C; CX-15C; CX-23C; CX-28C.
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FIG. K (Image of DI Product Fusion Nailer Showing Claimed Trigger Element)
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CDX-2C.0045; see also CX-14C; CX-15C; CX-23C; CX-28C.
In connection with the economic prong of the domestic industry requirement,
Kyocera has also alleged that its forthcoming [[
1], also practice the asserted claims. See CX-110C (Pratt) at QQ. 18, 232,

253-60. According to Dr. Pratt, Kyocera’s technical expert, the “[[

117 Id. at Q.254.10

19" A finishing nailer is typically used “in a finishing process for areas around doors, windows,
and edgings and to secure the bottom of drawers, cases, and cabinets.” See RX-266C (Vallee)
at Q. 46 (discussing typical uses of the accused finishing nailers). A framing nailer, which
dispenses relatively larger fasteners, is typically used for heavy-duty projects, such as “floor and
wall framing, housing and building construction, truss build-up, window build-up, wall
sheathing, subflooring, and roof decking.” /Id. (discussing typical uses of the accused framing
nailers); CX-112C (Klein) at Q.36 (. . . The main difference between the finishing and framing
nailers is one of scale. Essentially, framing nailers, since they drive larger sized fasteners, need
to be bigger and stronger to handle the increased forces and these features need to be designed
and tested. However, the actual concept of how the framing nailers work in comparison to the
finishing nailers remains essentially the same.”).
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II. DISCUSSION AND FINDINGS

For the reasons set forth below, the Commission has determined to modify in part and
reverse in part certain portions of the ID’s and RID’s analysis. Specifically, the Commission
modifies the ID’s and RID’s analyses concerning whether the accused products and the DI
products practice the “system controller,” “displacement volume,” and “initiating a driving
cycle” limitations and, under this modified analysis, reverses the ID’s and RID’s findings of non-
infringement and non-satisfaction of the technical prong of the domestic industry requirement.
The Commission also supplements the ID’s analysis of the economic prong of the domestic
industry requirement and, under this supplemented analysis, finds that Kyocera has satisfied this
requirement. The Commission adopts and affirms the portions of the ID and RID that are not
inconsistent with this opinion.

A. Applicable Legal Standards

1. Claim Construction

Claim construction “begin[s] with and remain[s] centered on the language of the claims
themselves.” Storage Tech. Corp. v. Cisco Sys., Inc., 329 F.3d 823, 830 (Fed. Cir. 2003);
Phillips v. AWH Corp., 415 F.3d 1303, 1312 (Fed. Cir. 2005) (en banc). The language used in a
claim bears a “heavy presumption” that it has the ordinary and customary meaning that would be
attributed to the words used by persons skilled in the relevant art. CCS Fitness, Inc. v.
Brunswick Corp., 288 F.3d 1359, 1366 (Fed. Cir. 2002); Phillips, 415 F.3d at 1312-13.
Moreover, the language is read in the context of the entire patent, including the specification.
Phillips, 415 F.3d at 1313-14; see also Vitronics Corp. v. Conceptronic, Inc., 90 F.3d 1576, 1582
(Fed. Cir. 1996) (“[T]he specification is always highly relevant to the claim construction

analysis. Usually, it is dispositive; it is the single best guide to the meaning of a disputed term.”).
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To help inform the court of the ordinary meaning of the words, a court may consult the intrinsic
evidence, including the claims themselves, the specification, and the prosecution history, as well
as extrinsic evidence, such as dictionaries and treatises and inventor and expert testimony.
Phillips, 415 F.3d at 1314.
2. Infringement
a. Direct Infringement
After properly construing the claims, a factual inquiry is conducted to compare the claims
with the accused device or process to determine infringement. See MBO Labs., Inc v. Becton
Dickinson & Co., 474 F.3d 1323, 1329 (Fed. Cir. 2007). The patentee bears the burden of
demonstrating infringement by a preponderance of the evidence. Cross Med. Prods., Inc. v.
Medtronic Sofamor Danek, Inc., 424 F.3d 1293, 1310 (Fed. Cir. 2005). The “preponderance of
the evidence” standard “simply requires proving that infringement was more likely than not to
have occurred.” Warner-Lambert Co. v. Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc., 418 F.3d 1326, 1341
n.15 (Fed. Cir. 2005); see also LNP Eng’g Plastics, Inc. v. Miller Waste Mills, Inc., 275 F.3d
1347, 1357 (Fed. Cir. 2001) (upholding grant of judgment as a matter of law where “the record
before the jury contained no evidence to rebut the substantial evidence of infringement”
presented by the plaintiff). To prove literal infringement, the patentee must show that an
accused product contains every limitation in the asserted claims. WMS Gaming Inc. v. Int’l
Game Tech., 184 F.3d 1339, 1350 (Fed. Cir. 1999).
b. Induced Infringement
Section 271(b) of the Patent Act provides: “Whoever actively induces infringement of a
patent shall be liable as an infringer.” 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). To establish liability, the patent

holder must prove that “once the defendants knew of the patent, they ‘actively and knowingly
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aid[ed] and abet[ted] another’s direct infringement.”” DSU Med. Corp. v. JMS Co., Ltd., 471
F.3d 1293, 1305 (Fed. Cir. 2006) (en banc). A finding of induced infringement requires
“evidence of culpable conduct, directed to encouraging another’s infringement, not merely that
the inducer had knowledge of the direct infringer’s activities.” Id. at 1306. The burden is on
the complainant to prove that the respondent had the specific intent and took action to induce
infringement, and intent may be proven by circumstantial evidence. /Id. at 1305-06; Lucent
Tech., Inc. v. Gateway, Inc., 580 F.3d 1301, 1322 (Fed. Cir. 2009).
3. Technical Prong of the Domestic Industry Requirement

The technical prong of the domestic industry requirement is satisfied when the
complainant in a patent-based section 337 investigation establishes that it is practicing or
exploiting the patent at issue. See 19 U.S.C. 1337(a)(2), (3); Certain Microsphere Adhesives,
Process for Making Same and Products Containing Same, Including Self-Stick Repositionable
Notes, Inv. No. 337-TA-366, Comm’n Op. at 8, 1996 WL 1056095 (U.S.L.T.C. Jan. 16, 1996)
(“Microsphere Adhesives”). “The test for satisfying the ‘technical prong’ of the industry
requirement is essentially [the] same as that for infringement, i.e., a comparison of domestic
products to the asserted claims.” Alloc, Inc. v. ITC, 342 F.3d 1361, 1375 (Fed. Cir. 2003); see
also Certain Polymide Films, Products Containing Same, and Related Methods, Inv. No. 337-
TA-772,2012 WL 13171648, Comm’n Op. at *10 (Nov. 21, 2012) (citing Alloc, 342 F.3d at
1375). It is sufficient to show that the domestic products practice any claim of that patent, not
necessarily an asserted claim of that patent. Microsphere Adhesives, Comm’n Op. at 7-16.

4. Economic Prong of the Domestic Industry Requirement
Section 337(a)(3) sets forth the following economic criteria for determining the existence

of a domestic industry in this investigation:
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(3) For purposes of paragraph (2), an industry in the United States
shall be considered to exist if there is in the United States, with respect
to the articles protected by the patent, copyright, trademark, mask
work, or design concerned —

(A) significant investment in plant and equipment;

(B) significant employment of labor or capital; or

(C) substantial investment in its exploitation, including

engineering, research and development, or licensing.
19 U.S.C. § 1337(a).

Satisfaction of any one of these sub-paragraphs is sufficient to meet the economic prong
of the domestic industry requirement. Certain Integrated Circuit Chipsets and Prods.
Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-428, Order No. 10, Initial Determination at 3 (unreviewed)
(May 4, 2000) (citing Certain Variable Speed Wind Turbines and Components Thereof, Inv. No.
337-TA-376, Comm’n Opinion at 15, USITC Pub. 3003 (Nov. 1996)). Also, Commission

(133

precedent recognizes that “‘the magnitude of the investment cannot be assessed without

consideration of the nature and importance of the complainant’s activities to the patented

b

products in the context of the marketplace or industry in question.”” Certain Carburetors and
Products Containing Such Carburetors, Inv. No. 337-TA-1123, Comm’n Op. at 18 (Oct. 28,
2019) (quoting Certain Printing & Imaging Devices & Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-
690, Comm’n Op. at 31 (Feb. 17, 2011)) (“Carburetors”).

B. Infringement Regarding “System Controller”

1. The Final ID
The Markman Order adopted the parties’ proposed construction for the “system

controller” term to mean “a circuit configured to control operation based on received input
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signals.” ID at 22 (citing Markman Order at 17).!! Based on this construction, the ID finds
that the accused products do not meet the “system controller” limitation of the asserted claims.
Id. at 26-29. Kyocera relied primarily on the testimony of its expert, Dr. Pratt, to prove that this
limitation is met. /Id. at 26 (citing Kyocera’s Initial Post-Hearing Br. at 17-18; Kyocera’s Post-
Hearing Reply Br. at 5-6). The ID, however, finds that Dr. Pratt’s testimony relies on an
infringement analysis related to other asserted patents and does not sufficiently explain how the
sensors of the accused products provide inputs to the system controller. Id. at 26-27 (citing CX-
110C at QQ. 115-118, 152, 160, 191). The ID further notes that Dr. Pratt cites two
demonstrative exhibits (i.e., CDX-1C.0042-0043) as proof that the “system controller” limitation
is present in the accused products, but finds that these demonstratives “show a spaghetti mess of
wires” and therefore do not support the presence of this limitation. /d. at 27. Moreover, the ID
finds that Dr. Pratt does not identify any sensors on these demonstratives. Id.

The ID further notes that Dr. Pratt cited a Connecting Diagram from the Service Manual
of a representative member of the accused products (i.e., JX-23.0027). Id. at 28. The ID finds,
however, that there is a significant distinction between a “connecting diagram” and a “circuit
diagram” that could be relied on to show that the accused products satisfy the relevant
construction of the “system controller” limitation, i.e., “a circuit configured to control operation

based on received input signals.” Id. Specifically, the ID finds the following testimony from

' The ALJ previously determined that one of ordinary skill in the art with respect to the asserted
"718 patent would have at least: (i) a Master’s Degree in mechanical engineering with at least
two years experience in power nailer design; (i1) a Bachelor’s Degree in mechanical engineering
with at least five years experience in powered nailer design; or (iii) ten or more years of
experience in powered nailer design. ID at 5 (citing Order No. 9 at 5-6 (May 3, 2018))
(emphasis added to provisions relevant to the ALJ’s finding that Kyocera’s technical expert, Dr.
Pratt, is not one of ordinary skill in the art).
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Hitachi’s expert, Dr. Vallee, significant in explaining the distinction:
This distinction is important because a connecting diagram illustrates how
to connect various components together. It does not show the details of
the circuitry, all of the components of the circuit, or the operation or
identification of information transmitted and received by any of the
various components . . . At most, the connecting diagram shows that there
are sensors connected to a [printed circuit board], but this does not mean

that the sensors are connected to a controller or provide any information to
a controller.”

Id. (citing RX-266C at QQ. 190, 204) (emphasis supplied by Hitachi).

The ID also finds that Dr. Pratt does not identify a “programmed computer,” as required
by the construction of the “predetermined conditions” terms of claim 11 of the 296 patent. /Id.
Before the ALJ, Kyocera also relied on Dr. Pratt’s testimony regarding these terms, i.e., by
equating them to the “system controller” limitation, to demonstrate infringement of the *718

patent.'> Further, the ID finds that even if Dr. Pratt had identified a “programmed computer,”

12 The Markman Order adopted the parties’ agreed-upon construction for “first predetermined
conditions” to mean “two or more conditions determined by a programmed computer,” and
“second predetermined conditions” to mean “two or more conditions determined by a
programmed computer and that are different than the first predetermined conditions.” Markman
Order at 17.

Claim 11 of the ’296 patent reads:
11. A fastener driving tool, comprising:
(a) a guide body that has a receiving end, an exit end, and a passageway
therebetween, said guide body being configured to receive a fastener that is to be

driven from said exit end;

(b) a driver actuation device having a movable member that creates a displacement
volume;

(c) an elongated driver member that that is in mechanical communication with said

movable member of the driver actuation device at a first end of said driver
member:
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(1) said driver member having a second, opposite end that is sized and
shaped to push a fastener from said exit end of the guide body,
wherein said passageway of the guide body allows said driver member
to pass therethrough toward said exit end during a driving stroke of an
operating cycle and toward said receiving end during a return stroke of
said operating cycle, said driver member, when at a driven position,
protruding toward said exit end of the guide body, and said driver
member, when at a ready position, being withdrawn into said guide
body, and

(i1) said driver member having at least one longitudinal edge with at least
one plurality of spaced-apart protrusions;

(d) a lifter member that exhibits a contact surface that, at predetermined locations

along said contact surface, makes contact with said at least one plurality of
spaced-apart protrusions of said driver member such that, if said lifter member is
moved in a first direction, it causes said driver member to be moved from said
driven position toward said ready position;

(e) amain storage chamber that, during said operating cycle, is always in fluidic

communication with said displacement volume of the driver actuation device,
wherein said main storage chamber and said displacement volume are both
charged with pressurized gas;

(f) a housing that substantially contain said driver actuation device, said elongated

driver member, said lifter member, and said main storage chamber; and

(g) a fastener magazine for holding a plurality of fasteners, and for serially supplying

said plurality of fasteners through an opening of the guide body to a position that
is coincident with a path of said driver member during said driving stroke;

wherein:

(h) said lifter member, under first predetermined conditions, forces said driver

member to undergo said return stroke and move toward said ready position, and
then holds said driver member at said ready position by use of a holding contact
between said lifter member and said driver member;

said lifter member, under second predetermined conditions, moves in said first
direction until it releases said driver member from said holding contact; and said
driver actuation device, under said second predetermined conditions, forces said
driver member to undergo said driving stroke and move toward said driven
position; and
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this mere identification of a programmed computer (or a system controller in the case of the *718
patent) would not tell a POSA anything about the operation of the computer, without a source
code analysis. [Id. (citing RX-266C at Q. 201). Accordingly, the ID finds that, to determine
whether the system controller identified in the accused products is actually “configured to
control operation based on received input signals,” a POSA would need to understand the logical
operations carried out by the accused controller, which necessarily requires an analysis of the
source code, which Dr. Pratt did not perform. Id. (citing RX-266C at Q. 206).

Based on the foregoing, the ID finds that Kyocera did not show by a preponderance of
the evidence that the accused products meet the “system controller” limitation. /d. at 29.
Accordingly, the ID finds that the accused products do not directly infringe claims 1, 10, or 16 of
the 718 patent.!* Id.

2. The Parties’ Arguments

Kyocera submits that the parties’ agreed upon construction of “system controller”
(adopted by the Markman Order and the ID) does not require a source code analysis as the
Markman Order construes this limitation to mean simply “a circuit configured to control
operation based on received input signals.” Kyocera’s Pet. at 21 (emphasis in original).
Rather, Kyocera submits, as construed, the claims of the 718 patent require only a “system
controller” without any additional functional or structural limitations associated with this term.

Id. (citing ID at 22; Storage Tech. Corp. v. Cisco Sys., Inc., 329 F.3d 823, 834 (Fed. Cir. 2003)

(j) said pressurized gas is not exhausted to atmosphere after a driving stroke, but
instead it is re-used for a plurality of said operating cycles.

JX-1 (the *296 patent) at 42:23-43:15 (emphasis added to portions relevant to petitioned issues).

13 Because the ID finds no direct infringement, it finds that Hitachi has not indirectly infringed
the asserted claims of the *718 patent. Id.
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(vacating grant of summary judgment because the district court misapplied its own claim
construction)).

Kyocera submits that, contrary to the ID’s determination, its expert, Dr. Pratt, provided
sufficient explanation as to how the sensors of the accused products provide inputs to the system
controller to meet this limitation. /Id. at 26. Specifically, Kyocera submits that Dr. Pratt
explained how the various sensors of the accused products worked with the system controller to
control operation of these products with respect to the first of the “predetermined conditions”
limitations of claim 11 of the’296 patent with reference to FIG. C (shown supra). Id. (citing
CDX-1C.0029 (reproducing and annotating JX-23C.0029)). Kyocera submits that, with respect
to this diagram and the sensors identified on it, Dr. Pratt explained the operation of the “system
controller” of the accused products and thus: (1) identified multiple sensors connected to the
system controller and (2) provided an explanation as how these sensors provided inputs to the
system controller — the very evidence that the ID believed was missing. /Id. at 28 (citing ID at
27).

Kyocera further submits that, contrary to the ID’s determination, Dr. Pratt testified that he
arrived at his conclusions (referring to the “predetermined conditions” limitations) by testing and
inspecting the accused products and reviewing documentation, including the Instruction and
Safety Manual (JX-19C) for the accused products. /d. at 28 (citing CX-110C at Q. 112).
Kyocera also submits that Dr. Pratt provided similar testimony on how the “system controller” of
the accused products is “configured to control operation based on received input signals” with
respect to the second of the “predetermined conditions” claim limitation of the 296 patent by
referencing the same annotated circuit chart shown above in FIG. C (shown supra). Id. at 29-30

(citing CDX-1C.0029; CX-110C at QQ. 115-18).
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Based on the foregoing, Kyocera submits that it has shown by a preponderance of the
evidence that the accused products meet the “system controller” limitation. Id. at 30. In
addition, Kyocera submits that, when contrasted to the minimal non-infringement testimony
provided by Hitachi’s expert, Dr. Vallee, Kyocera has established by a preponderance of the
evidence that infringement of the asserted claims of the *718 patent has more likely than not
occurred. Id. at 26 (citing RX-266C at QQ. 300-01; Warner-Lambert, 418 F.3d at 1341 n.15;
LNP Eng’g Plastics, 275 F.3d at 1357).

Hitachi submits that the ID correctly finds that: (1) source code analysis is necessary to
determine whether the accused products meet the “system controller” limitation of the *718
patent and (2) the ID did not ignore the testimony of Kyocera’s expert (Dr. Pratt) in finding that
this limitation is not met. Hitachi’s Resp. at 2-15. Hitachi submits that because Dr. Pratt, in his
infringement testimony, analogized the “system controller” limitation of the *718 patent to the
“predetermined conditions” limitations of the *296 patent, which the parties agree are construed
to require conditions determined by a “programmed computer,” Kyocera admits that the claims
require the “system controller” to run on software, which the ID correctly determines
necessitates an analysis of the source code. /d. at 5-8 (citing CX-110C at Q. 110, 160, 191).
Accordingly, Hitachi submits that its own expert, Dr. Vallee, persuasively testified that, given
that Kyocera requires a “programmed computer” to satisfy the “system controller” limitation,
source code analysis is necessary to determine whether this limitation is met by the accused
products. Id. at 7 (citing RX-266C at 186, 206). Hitachi submits that because Dr. Vallee
explained that Dr. Pratt had not conducted such a necessary analysis of the source code for the
accused products to confirm how various operations take place within the Hitachi nailer, the ID

correctly finds non-infringement under Kyocera’s theory of infringement, since a POSA would
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not understand the logical operations carried by the “system controller” without such required
source code analysis. /d.

Hitachi further submits that, regardless of whether a source code analysis is required, the
evidence relied on by Kyocera, e.g., the Connecting Diagram and Dr. Pratt’s testimony, does not
demonstrate that the accused products meet the “system controller” limitation by a
preponderance of the evidence. Id. Hitachi submits that the ID correctly determines that Dr.
Pratt’s infringement testimony is conclusory as it: (1) relies on a connecting diagram, rather
than a circuit diagram that details the circuitry and operation or identification of information
transmitted and received by interconnected components; and (2) does not provide any detailed
analysis of the sensors allegedly interconnected to a “system controller.” /d. at 11.

3. Analysis

The Commission finds that the ID errs by requiring an analysis of source code to
determine whether the accused products satisfy the “system controller” limitation of the 718
patent. The evidence presented by Kyocera shows that the accused products meet the “system
controller” limitation recited in the asserted claims, as construed. See ID at 22 (citing Markman
Order at 17) (adopting the parties’ proposed construction). In particular, we rely on the
following evidence:

e Hitachi Instruction and Safety Manual, JX-19C

e Hitachi Service Manual and Parts List, JX-17C, JX-23C

e Physical Hitachi Accused Product and Photographs, JPX-6, JPX-7, CX-13

e Kyocera’s Expert Testimony of Dr. Pratt as a supplement, CX-110C at QQ. 110-19, 152,
160, 191 (citing to CDX-1).

The Commission finds that the “system controller” limitation refers to a structural,
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standard electrical component that is “a circuit configured to control operation based on received
input signals,” and the asserted claims of the *718 patent do not require any additional structure
or functionality with respect to the “system controller.” We find that the above-recited record
evidence, supplemented by the testimony of Dr. Pratt, including circumstantial evidence, in the
form of Dr. Pratt’s trial-and-error testing of the accused products and his review of Hitachi’s
documents, provide sufficient evidence to determine that the accused products meet the “system
controller” limitation.

Primarily, Dr. Pratt provides evidence of infringement of these claims in reference to the
“predetermined conditions” limitations of claim 11 of the *296 patent, which is analogous in
scope to the “system controller” limitation of the asserted claims of the *718 patent.!* See CX-
110C at Q. 191. Dr. Pratt provided several examples of how the system controller of the 718
patent is “configured to control operation based on received input signals,” as the controller
determines whether certain predetermined conditions are met, in response to sensor inputs, in

operating the accused tool. See, e.g., IX-23C.0027 (FIG. C above); CX-110C at Q. 110 (“[[

117)). With respect to the

Connecting Diagram shown in the Hitachi Service Manual (JX-23C.0027) and the sensors

14 1t is undisputed that the asserted patents in the investigation are part of the same family and
have largely identical specifications. See Markman Order at 18 n.4; see also NTP, Inc. v.
Research in Motion, Ltd., 418 F.3d 1282, 1293 (Fed. Cir. 2005) (“Because [the asserted] patents
all derive from the same parent application and share many common terms, we must interpret the
claims consistently across all asserted patents.”); Nystrom v. TREX Co., Inc., 424 F.3d 1136,
1143 (Fed. Cir. 2005) (“Different terms or phrases in separate claims may be construed to cover
the same subject matter where the written description and prosecution history indicate that such a
reading of the terms or phrases is proper.”). Accordingly, the Markman Order consistently
applies the same meaning to common claim terms found across several of the asserted patents.
Id. at 16-18, 21 (holding that the term “ready position” has the same meaning across all asserted
patents).
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identified on it, Dr. Pratt: (1) identified multiple sensors connected to the system controller and
(2) provided an explanation as to how these sensors provided inputs to the system controller —
the very evidence that the ID believed was missing. See ID at 27. Specifically, with respect to
this diagram and the sensors identified on it, Dr. Pratt explained the operation of the “system

controller” of the accused products as follows:

1l

11.

Id. at 27-28 (citing CX-110C at Q. 110) (emphasis added). Contrary to the ID’s determination,
Dr. Pratt testified that he arrived at his conclusions (referring to the “predetermined conditions”
limitations) by testing and inspecting the accused products and reviewing documentation,
including the Instruction and Safety Manual (JX-19C) for the accused products, as follows:

Yes, the Instruction and Safety Manual for the Accused Products, JX-
0019C, confirmed the results of my analysis. [[

1. For example, JX-0019C describes the sequential mode at page
4, explaining that the safety contact element must first be depressed and
then the trigger pulled in that order, otherwise the controller will not
initiate the lifting movement. |[[
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11
CX-110C at Q. 112 (emphasis added).
Dr. Pratt provided further testimony on how the “system c